THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeal

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Dale E. Van Slambrook Master of Equity

Case No. 2010-CP 08-3514

Appellate Case No. 2016-000292

Branch Banking and Trust Company, Respondent,
v.

Wilton H. Cain; Cassandra M. Durrah-Cain; Liberty Hall Residential Property
Owners Association, Inc., Defendants,

Of whom Wilton H. Cain and Cassandra M. Durrah-Cain are Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

APRIL 16, 2017

Wilton H. Cain and Cassandra M. Cain
8111 Jareds Landing Road
Adams Run SC 29426
843-991-3198

RECEIVED

APR 18 2017

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

Is this foreclosure action RESULTING FROM A DEFAULT of a civil contract a Tort action in South Carolina, is there an injured party in the default of a civil contract that being a mortgage agreement as in this case, who is injured. Is the mortgage company a injured party.

Does the Mortgage company BB&T the first party in this law suit have the automatic rights of a third party such as the Private Mortgage Insurer to sue on behalf of the insurer under Subrogation rights and is the Mortgage company required to give timely notice to defendants and the court they represent the third party Insurer with Subrogation rights in this foreclosure case . Is giving notice after over four years have passed in this case timely notice that Plaintiff represent insurer. Must the notice be surely understandable to all parties.

Is the communication (letters) between parties as requested by the court in this foreclosure case a part of this case, does the communication represent the plaintiff and are therefore binding upon parties, as outlined in Supreme Court Administrative Letter may 2, 2011 (2011-05-02-01).

Is a contract which is agreed upon by two parties independent of either signature party, is the civil contract independent of the parties that signed the agreement, Is the PMI (mortgage insurance) wholly independent of the defendant who agreed on the contract to purchase it and to pay for it monthly included in mortgage payment for the amount of 97.70 a month.

Does the mortgage insurance payment to mortgage company in a foreclosure reduce the mortgage company loss resulting from a default of the mortgage contract .

Is the foreclosure sale price set before the results of the appraised value of the home is set by the court, and is the sale process completed before appraisal value is set under title 29 section 3-(10 -740).

Is the mortgage company attempting to collect payments already paid by insurer, are the Plaintiff's required to state the amount they received from insurer, is enrichment allowed/permitted under SC Code of law Title 29-3-10-740 . To claim subrogation rights must the value be stated.

Does the mortgage insurance payment to the mortgage company in a foreclosure reduce the mortgage companies loss resulting from a default on the mortgage contract.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE/ARGUMENTS

This appeal results from Master of Equity Order Denying Defendants motion to dismiss Deficiency Judgment filed on January 26, 2016.

This foreclosure case was filed Oct 4, 2010 by BB&T a trial without jury and no court reporter was held on June 16, 2011, with a judgment entered June 30, 2011, the sale value was set at 121,500.00, on September 2, 2011 the property was sold at a judicial sale for 121,500.00 to BB&T , on September 19, 2011 a deficiency judgment was entered for 83,893.82, within 30 days on September 29, 2011 defendants filed petition for Proposed Order for Appraisal under S.C Code 29-3-700 there was no opposing party, Judge K. L. Harrington denied Appraisal right which Defendants appealed Case no. 2011-205089 on September 24, 2014 three years later Court remanded issue back to Circuit Court on May 29, 2015 Order was issued for Appraisal. And Ordered case back to Master of Equity. Appraisal being completed on December 4, 2015 Judge Dale E. Van Slambrook accepted Appraisal of 168,000.00 and issued an Order Reducing Deficiency Judgment to 37,393.82. On December 29, 2015 Defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss

Deficiency Judgment hearing was held on January 14, 2016 and on January 26, which resulted in Order confirming Deficiency Judgment of 37,393.82 on February 16, 2016 Defendants filed a Notice of Appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is a case, which expands a period of over six years, and the fact of the case remains the facts. This Appeal is in regards to Defendants belief the Court Eroded in the Order for the Deficiency Judgment against the defendants eroded in the correct amount, eroded by the order not being dismissed, eroded by using the Collateral source rule and subrogation right and whether (PMI) Mortgage Insurance paid to Plaintiff reduces lost for Lender Freddie Mac, eroded in a foreclosure case whether this mortgage insurance is wholly independent of defendants, the amount of mortgage insurance, what sale price did Plaintiff collect mortgage insurance 121,500.00 or proper value of 168,00.00 which was mortgage insurance paid to plaintiff on, did plaintiff rushed settlement before final value set, by deficiency Order written January 26, 2016.

The Plaintiff sole the house on 10/03/2012 while case was in Appeal did not report it to court or deduct the increase from Deficiency

Judgment, and failed to report sale to court and the value on home had not yet been set. House sold for 154,000.00. that is an increase of 33,000.00 in value over sale price of 121,500.00

The Court requested and permitted emails to be used as a means of communication between parties and the court in those contact defendants raised questions on RMI subrogation and collateral source on January 21, 2016, the email also point out to the Court Defendants concern about whether plaintiff attempt on subrogation was lawful, on January 15, 2016 , email also clearly show the Court directed the Plaintiff to write Order base on their finding, dated January 14, 2016 the order is dated January 16, 2016,

The defendants contend numerous errors exist and were made in the conclusion of the deficiency judgment order, let me begin with this as directed by Court to contact Plaintiff attorney for any information on case and in line with the South Carolina Supreme Court Administrative letter stating the Foreclosure Attorney is the point of contact on May 2, 2011 (2011-05-02-01) Ref: Mortgage Foreclosure Action to prevent defendants run around. Defendant therefore contend communication to and from Plaintiff Attorney is a part of case , therefore letter from Defendants to Plaintiff attorney dated August 28, 2010 must be

Defendants further claim private mortgage insurance is for default and is a RISK insurance under S.C Code of Law 38-12-70, further defendants contend a mortgage represent a security for a obligation but not full payment “ Perptul Bldg and Loan Association of Anderson V. Braun 270,S.C. 338, 340 therefore defendants contend Tort does not apply and PMI payment must reduce loss and that reduction must be considered in determination of Deficiency Judgment against Defendants.

Defendants raised question about mortgage insurance at a hearing on June 16, 2011 which Mr. Rick Miller BB&T witness testified that there was mortgage insurance and that it was 25% of loan as evident in Plaintiff filing “ plaintiff’s Brief Regarding Deficiency Judgment” filed Jan 4, 2016 page 2, there was no Court reporter however Judge Watson Master of Equity wrote in his notes of the case which Judge Dale E. Van Slambrook made reference to at hearing as evident in transcript of Hearing on January 14, 2016 as to defendants concern whether insurance company had any rights under equitable Subrogation, Court didn’t respond, on page 9 line15 thru line 2 page 10, again in transcript page 24 ,line 14 thru line 25 it was stated that BB&T representative notified Court there was 25% of PMI on loan, the state ok confirming notes from Judge Watson , then again stated “okay, but

today you have any documentation, letters, affidavits, paperwork that you can submit, Defendant is unable to present evidence because Plaintiff refuse all request to provide any evidence on amount of PMI paid or the date paid.

Defendants further refer to Plaintiff filing on January 4, 2016 a copy of the agreement between BB%T and the Mortgage Insurance Co. RMIC , in that agreement on page 3 (1:10) state Default mean the failure by a borrower (a) to pay when due an amount equal to or greater than one periodic monthly payment due under the terms or condition of the loan, or (b) comply with any other terms or condition of the loan base on borrower loan agreement. This agreement also addresses Subrogation rights on page 21, line 7:3 stating those right are exclusively RMIC rights and not the Plaintiff's the insurer is exclusive agent to pursue recovery right unless plaintiff is given a waiver in writing stating Subrogation right given to Plaintiff.

Defendants raised issue of Mortgage Insurance in trail Court therefore proper to raise in Appeal Court SC Dept of Transp V. Horry County 391 SC 76, 82-83, 705 SE 2d 21,25 (2011).

The Plaintiff at no time for more than over five years has implied or given this Court or the Defendant any notice that they had Subrogation rights given by insurer for insurance payments, neither has there been any notice that Plaintiff Attorney represent the insurer RMIC, the Plaintiff first mention of Subrogation right in January 4, 2016 by Attorney Erica Lybrand and again at hearing on January 14, 2016 . Defendants contend third party right is a Civil action and therefore require proper notification to the parties involved. Civil action notice must be timely to pursue which according to S.C.Code of Law Title 15. Defendants however call the Courts attention to the fact that Plaintiff claim subrogation rights, that states that indeed and insurance payment was made by the insurer, any action demanding payment under subrogation requires the amount to be clearly stated. Defendants request Court to instruct Plaintiff to state amount of insurance paid by RMIC.

Plaintiff only claim subrogation rights after case was over six years old defendants contend right to raise issue not preserved Summersell V. SC Dept of Pub Safety 337,SC 19, 522 SE 2d 144 (1999).

Defendant executed mortgage with CTX Mortgage Company September 19, 2007 was recorded September 20, 2007 book 6868 at

higher than legally allowed. This process was not completed under court direction in violation of court order (Judgment of Foreclosure and sale page 7 item number 32 June 30, 2011) and out of line with SC Code Sec. 15-39-720 (1976). The Plaintiff being in violation of Court Order under SC CODE 29-3-710-740-750 all action resulting must be extinguished and cancel, the Court had no jurisdiction over process nor does court have knowledge of any fund transferred or due and neither does Defendant. Fact Plaintiff made decision to alter the process without Court approval. Foreclosure is an open Civil process not a closed secret process as Plaintiff have made it. Further Defendant contend any payment received by Plaintiff reduced there loss and there have no loss resulting from foreclosure proceeding and have no claim for loss under Title 29 they have received full payment (recovery).

Plaintiff completed sale prior to the completion of sale process as outlined in SC Code 15-39-610 which prays NO JUDICIAL SALE OF PROPERTY SHOULD BE MADE UNTIL AFTER THE TIME FOR FILING OF AN APPEAL OF A JUDGMENT IS PAST OR AN APPEAL IS HEARD AND THE JUDGMENT AFFIRMED an appraisal was requested in a timely manner an after appeal granted yet Plaintiff completed a sale of property which was under court judiction. (SC Code 22-3-300-310) It is

believed Plaintiff requested and received more Mortgage Insurance than was due because it was requested at a sale value of 121500 and not true value of 168000 as set by the Court after appraisal

Equitable maximum are set under Title 29-3 of the SC Code which forbid enrichment only collection of debt.. Plaintiff in there filing to seek equity must grant equity therefore are not entitled to enrichment only payment for debt and not third party possible debt Shumaker V. Shumaker 234 SC 421, 427,108 SE 2d 682,686 (1959), Anderson V. Purvis 211, SC 255, 266, 44 SE 2d 611,616 (1947).

Rule 267 foreclosure procedures to be proper must satisfy Mortgage by foreclosure signed by Judge Robert Watson dated September 16, 2011

Defendants contend the application of the Collateral Source Rule to a foreclosure action which is a Civil action is in error, the South Carolina Courts have not addressed foreclosure action as a Tort specifically under Collateral Resource Rule which applies to “ wrongdoer “ and permits damages to be awarded to the injured party, in this case it would put Plaintiff in a better position than if no default had occurred Maro V. Lewis, 389 SC 216, 222, 697 SE 2d 684,688 CT APP 2010, there was no willful intent no fraud committed by Defendants and

no harm to lender, BB&T are just the severer of the loan Freddie Mac is the lender . There has been no claim of an injury and no harm just a default on a contract, Collateral Source fails for wrongdoer implies some criminal act or unlawful act has been committed by defendants not true, also it fails to be wholly independent of Defendants , fact Master policy submitted by Plaintiff is proof PMI (insurance) is not wholly independent of defendants reference items 1.16, 1.17, 2.4(2b), 4.1,5.1 page 173 borrower shall pay for mortgage insurance, point in fact if defendants fail to pay premium of 97.70 monthly it would be a breach of contract, proving not wholly independent of Defendants in each case cited must be “ wholly independent “, Rattenni V. Grainger 298 SC 276, 379 SE 2d 890 (1989), Young V. Warr 252 SC 179, 165 SE 2d 797 (1969), Powers V. Temple, 250 SC 149, 156 SE 2d 759 (1967), mount V.Sea Pines Co. 337, SC 355, 357, 523 SE 464, 465, CT App. 1999, Johnston V. Aiken Auto Parts, 311 SC 285, 287, 428, SE 2d 737, 738,CT App. 1993. Foreclosure is a Civil action Defendants contend no criminal act Tort may be brought in a civil action SC Code 15-3-150. Therefore Collateral Source fails to apply in a foreclosure.

CONCLUSION

RULE THAT THE COURT ERRED IN NOT DISMISSING DEFICIENCY JUDGMENT, THE COURT ERRED BY NOT SEPARATING PLAINTIFF LOSS FROM THIRD PARTY INSURER PAYMENT TO PLAINTIFF, COURT ERRED IN NOT RULING MORTGAGE INSURANCE IS DEPENDANT UPON DEFENDANTS WHO MAKE PAYMENT AND AGREED TO IT BEING A PART OF LOAN.

THE COURT ERRED IN APPLYING COLLATERAL SOURCE RULE, THAT THE COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING PLAINTIFF TO CLAIM SUBROGATION RIGHTS. THE COURT MUST DENY PLAINTIFF SUBROGATION RIGHTS WHICH ARE NOT ESTABLISHED. THE COURT ERRED IN NOT RULING RMI IS NOT WHOLLY INDEPENDENT OF DEFENDANTS, THE COURT ERRED IN NOT RULING A FORECLOSURE ACTION IS NOT A TORT ACTION,

COURT ERRED IN NOT RULING PLAINTIFF PRESENTED NO EVIDENCE THEY HAD SUBROGATION RIGHTS , ORDER SAME ALSO RULE NO NOTICE GIVEN BY PLAINTIFF THEY HAD SUBROGATION RIGHTS, RULE PLAINTIFF FAILED TO FOLLOW AND ALLOW COURT TO

MANAGE SALE , PLAINTIFF COMPLETED SALE BEFORE VALUE OF HOME SET BY COURT, ORDER PLAINTIFF TO TURN ALL ASSET OVER TO COURT FOR COURT TO CONTROL, RULE PLAINTIFF HAVE NO LOSS AND DISMISS DEFICIENCY JUDGMENT, Order Plaintiff TO NOTIFY DEFENDANTS AND THE Court the amount of PMI insurance paid AND THE DATE.

Wilton Cain Cassandra Cain

WILTON CAIN AND CASSANDRA CAIN

6476 NORTH HWY 17

AWENDAW, SOUTH CAROLINA

8439913198

APRIL 16, 2017

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeal

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Dale E. Van Slambrook Master of Equity

Case No. 2010-CP 08-3514

Appellate Case No. 2016-000292

RECEIVED

APR 18 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Branch Banking and Trust Company -----Respondent,

v.

Wilton H. Cain: Cassandra M. Cain-----Appellants