RECEIVED
JAN 30 2018
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Dale E. Van Slambrook, Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2016-000292

Branch Banking and Trust Company Plaintiff/ Respondent,

v.

Wilton H. Cain; Cassandra M. Durrah-Cain;
Liberty Hall Residential Property Owners
Association, Inc..... Defendants,

Of Whom Wilton H. Cain and Cassandra
M. Durrah-Cain are the Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Erica G. Lybrand
ROGERS TOWNSEND & THOMAS, PC
1221 Main Street / 14th Floor
Post Office Box 100200 (29202)
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
803.799.7100

Attorneys for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. APPELLANTS DID NOT PROPERLY PRESEVRE ALL ISSUES RAISED IN THE APPEAL.

Appellants raise issues on appeal that were never raised to or ruled upon by the Master-in-Equity. As such, Appellants’ arguments are not properly before this Court and should not be considered.

“Preserving issues for appellate review is a fundamental component of appellate practice.” *Kennedy v. S.C. Ret. Sys.*, 349 S.C. 531, 532-33, 564 S.E.2d 322, 323 (2001). “[T]o preserve an issue for appellate review, a matter may not be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been both raised to and ruled upon by the trial court.” *Hill v. S.C. Dep’t of Health &*

Envtl. Control, 389 S.C. 1, 21, 698 S.E.2d 612, 623 (2010) (citing *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 497 S.E.2d 731 (1998)). “The issue must be sufficiently clear to bring into focus the precise nature of the alleged error so that it can be reasonably understood by the judge.” *Malloy v. Thompson*, 409 S.C. 557, 561, 762 S.E.2d 690, 692 (2014) (citations omitted)). “A bald assertion, without supporting argument, does not preserve an issue for appeal.” *In re McCracken*, 346 S.C. 87, 92, 551 S.E.2d 235, 238 (2001) (citing *Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 497 S.E.2d 731 (1998)). “If [a] review of the record establishes that an issue is not preserved, then [this Court] should not reach it.” *Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis*, 398 S.C. 323, 329, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012).

Here, Appellants raise multiple issues which are either raised for the first time in their initial brief to this Court or were never ruled upon by the Master in Equity. Specifically, those issues raised without having previously been ruled upon are:

- (A) Issue #1: The exact amount of insurance paid by the PMI insurer Republic Mortgage Insurance Company to BB&T;
- (B) Issue #3: Whether BB&T’s attorney has legal authorization from the mortgage company to represent BB&T or do they represent a third party;
- (C) Issue #5: Does BB&T represent the insurer RMIC;
- (D) Issue #6: Whether the mortgage company has a right under South Carolina law to enrichment in a foreclosure case; and
- (E) Issue #7: Whether BB&T is required under South Carolina law to give proper and timely notice to defendant that they represent the insurer or third party in a subrogation action.

These issues were never ruled upon by the lower court, as required to preserve them for Appellate review. (See R. pp. 54-61,; R. pp. 10-42, R. pp. 71-95, Supp R. pp. 1-3). The Cains never raised Issue #7 in the lower court and now attempt to raise it for the first time in the appeal. (*Id.*). The Cains do make some argument regarding Issues 1, 3, 5, and 6 in their Motion to Dismiss Deficiency Judgment, (R. p. 62-63), but those same arguments were not made at the hearing, and there was no mention of or any ruling on those arguments in the Order Confirming Deficiency Judgment. (See R. pp. 71-95, Supp R. pp. 1-3, R. pp. 3-4). Even if a party raises an issue in argument, if the issue is not ruled upon by the court and the party fails to move to alter or amend the order to include a ruling on those issues, the issues are not preserved for appellate review. *Summersell v. S.C. Dep't of Pub. Safety*, 337 S.C. 19, 522 S.E.2d 144 (1999).

The Appellants have failed to properly preserve these issues, either by raising them for the first time in this appeal or by failing to make a motion to alter or amend the Order Confirming Deficiency Judgment to request a ruling on the issues contained in their motion. Therefore, Appellants' issues 1, 3, 5, 6, and 7 are not preserved and should not be considered.

II. APPELLANTS HAVE ABANDONED THEIR ISSUES RAISED ON APPEAL BY MAKING ONLY CONCLUSORY ARGUMENTS WITHOUT ANY LEGITIMATE SUPPORTING AUTHORITY.

Appellants have raised issues in this appeal by making only conclusory arguments without providing any statutory or common law in support of their allegations. As a result, Appellants have abandoned these arguments and they should not be considered by this Court.

In essence, abandonment is akin to issue preservation. As established, *supra*, Part I, “[a] bald assertion, without supporting argument, does not preserve an issue for appeal.” *In re McCracken*, 346 S.C. 87, 92, 551 S.E.2d 235, 238 (2001) (internal citation omitted). “An issue is deemed abandoned if the argument in the brief is not supported by authority or is only

conclusory.” *Potter v. Spartanburg Sch. Dist.* 7, 395 S.C. 17, 24, 716 S.E.2d 123, 127 (Ct. App. 2011); *see also Jones v. Builders Inv. Grp., LLC*, 415 S.C. 321, 331, 781 S.E.2d 737, 742 (Ct. App. 2015) (holding “[b]ecause [appellant] cited no authority in this section and his argument was largely conclusory...this issue is abandoned on appeal.”). Mere allegations are not enough, Appellant must provide supporting authority for his arguments, or he has abandoned such arguments. *See First Sav. Bank v. McLean*, 314 S.C. 361, 363, 444 S.E.2d 513, 514 (1994).

Moreover, the *South Carolina Appellate Court Rules* provide that “[t]he brief shall be divided into as many parts as there are issues to be argued. At the head of each part, the particular issue to be addressed shall be set forth in distinctive type, followed by discussion and citations of authority.” Rule 208(b)(1)(D), SCACR. “Numerous cases have held that where an issue is not argued within the body of the brief but is only a short conclusory statement, it is abandoned on appeal.” *Ellie, Inc. v. Miccichi*, 358 S.C. 78, 99, 594 S.E.2d 485, 496 (Ct. App. 2004) (citing *Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 691 (Ct. App. 2001); *R & G Constr., Inc. v. Lowcountry Reg’l Transp. Auth.*, 343 S.C. 424, 437, 540 S.E.2d 113, 120 (Ct. App. 2000); *Welch v. Epstein*, 342 S.C. 279, 288 n. 1, 536 S.E.2d 408, 412 n. 1 (Ct. App. 2000)).

First and foremost, most of Appellants’ “issues” are simply questions the Appellants request an answer to, as opposed to being issues for this Court to consider. Additionally, Appellants have not broken their brief into sections addressing their itemized issues on appeal and providing any argument for their position. Further, most of these issues are simply restated in the Appellants’ brief without any additional argument or support in the form of statutory authority or case law. To the extent that there is any case law or statutes cited, those cases and statutes do not support the Appellants contentions. Finally, the Appellants do not actually make

any arguments to support their claim for relief from this court. They do not detail any reasons that they would be entitled to the relief sought, nor do they even tend to flesh out the background or facts of the case which support their claims.

As Appellants have abandoned their issues by failing to provide any authority for their arguments, this appeal should not be considered by this Court.

In an effort to fully address the potential issues, however, Respondent submits the following argument regarding the mortgage insurance issue raised by Appellants.

III. THE MASTER IN EQUITY PROPERLY FOUND THAT THE COLLATERAL SOURCE RULE APPLIES IN THIS CONTRACT ACTION AND THAT A PRIVATE MORTGAGE INSURANCE PAYMENT TO A MORTGAGEE DOES NOT REDUCE A DEFICIENCY JUDGMENT OWED BY A MORTGAGOR.

Appellants attempt to argue that the Master in Equity erred in considering the collateral source rule in ruling that a payment of private mortgage insurance proceeds do not reduce the deficiency judgment entered against a mortgage loan borrower following a foreclosure action. The basis of their argument appears to be two-fold: (1) that the collateral source rule applies to torts only and (2) that even if it were to apply to contract cases, it would not apply here as the mortgage insurance carrier is not wholly independent of the mortgage borrowers.

For the reasons set forth below, the Master in Equity both properly applied the collateral source rule in this contract related action and properly held that the collateral source rule prevented the consideration of a private mortgage insurance payment to BB&T in entering a deficiency judgment against the Appellants following the foreclosure action. .

A. As an initial matter, Appellants were in default in the underlying foreclosure and have not entered any evidence that mortgage insurance was paid to BB&T or, if it was, what amount was paid.

“A case becomes moot when judgment, if rendered, will have no practical legal effect upon [the] existing controversy...making it impossible for [the] reviewing Court to grant relief.” *Mathis v. S.C. State Highway Dep’t*, 260 S.C. 344, 346, 195 S.E.2d 713, 715 (1973). Appellants contend that the collateral source rule should not apply and that mortgage insurance proceeds received by BB&T from the mortgage insurance company should reduce the deficiency judgment entered against the Appellants. However, this argument is essentially moot because even if the court determined that was the case, there has been no evidence entered by the Appellants regarding confirmation that BB&T was paid by the mortgage insurance carrier and if it was, how much it was paid. The Appellants operate off of a set of assumptions without evidence and for which they made no effort to confirm. This Court could grant no effectual relief to the Appellants in the event it ruled for them because there is no amount in evidence to effectuate a set-off. Therefore, Appellants’ issue as to mortgage insurance payment is moot and cannot be addressed.

However, in the event the Court wishes to address the arguments made by Appellants with regard to the collateral source rule and mortgage insurance, those are addressed below.

B. The Master in Equity properly found that the collateral source rule applies in certain contract actions and is not limited in application to torts only.

“The collateral source rule provides that compensation received by an injured party from a source wholly independent of the wrongdoer will not reduce the amount of damages owed by the wrongdoer.” *In re W.B. Easton Constr. Co., Inc.*, 320 S.C. 90, 92, 463 S.E.2d 317, 318 (1995) (citing *Rattenni v. Grainger*, 298 S.C. 276, 379 S.E.2d 890 (1989); *Young v. Warr*, 252 S.C. 179, 165 S.E.2d 797 (1969); *Powers v. Temple*, 250 S.C. 149, 156 S.E.2d 759 (1967)).

“This rule has been liberally applied in South Carolina to preclude the reduction of damages.” *Id.* The collateral source rule applies to total or partial compensation received from a collateral source. *See New Found. Baptist Church v. Davis*, 257 S.C. 443, 446, 186 S.E.2d 247, 249 (1972) (holding that “the collateral source rule is that which holds that total or partial compensation...from a collateral source...does not operate to lessen the damages recoverable from the wrongdoer.”). “Such doctrine has been applied by this Court in quite a variety of factual situations.” *Id.* (citations omitted).

The Appellants’ mortgage loan was a contractual obligation, and a default on that loan amounts to a breach of contract. Appellants argue that the applicability of the collateral source rule is limited to torts, and cannot be applied in a mortgage foreclosure action, founded in contract. It is true that application of the collateral source rule is usually only considered in addressing damages in a tort case. Although this issue does not appear to have been specifically addressed by South Carolina courts, many courts across the country have varied in their view of application of the collateral source rule to contractual damages.

Some jurisdictions take the position that the collateral source rule does not apply to what are described as “pure breach of contract” cases. Most courts find that the collateral source rule does not apply to breach of contract actions because the application of the rule would violate a basic tenet of contract law that damages for a breach of contract should not put the injured party in a better position than he would have been in if there had been performance. *Maro v. Lewis*, 389 S.C. 216, 222, 697 S.E.2d 684, 688 (Ct. App. 2010) (quoting *Minter v. GOCT, Inc.*, 322 S.C. 525, 528, 473 S.E.2d 67, 70 (Ct. App. 1996)). Other courts base their holdings on the premise that the application of the rule would essentially amount to punitive damages which are not available in pure breach of contract actions without a willful or tortious intent. *See Centon Elecs.*,

Inc. v. Bonar, 614 So.2d 999, 1004 (Ala.1993) (noting that “collateral source rule is not applicable to a claim for breach of contract”); *Grover v. Ratliff*, 120 Ariz. 368, 586 P.2d 213, 215 (Ct.App.1978) (holding that “collateral source rule is a concept of damages in tort cases and does not apply to an ordinary breach of contract case”); *City of Miami Beach v. Carner*, 579 So.2d 248, 253–54 (Fla.Dist.Ct.App.1991) (collateral source rule not applicable in pure breach of contract cases; in contract cases, “measure of damages is the plaintiff’s injury, rather than the defendant’s culpability”). However, most of these cases do not consider the effect of a subrogation agreement between the collateral source and the injured party.

Other jurisdictions have considered application of the collateral source rule in a breach of contract action where the collateral source is subrogated to the rights of the injured party, preventing the possibility of a “double recovery.” See *Metoyer v. Auto Club Family Ins. Co.*, 536 F. Supp. 2d 664, 671 (E.D. La. 2008) (holding that a subrogation right negates the negative effects of the collateral source rule in a contract claim). Additionally, some scholars have agreed that the collateral source rule should be applied to contract law, arguing that where the non-breaching party has subrogated its rights to the collateral source, the collateral source rule ought to apply. See Joseph M. Perillo, *The Collateral Source Rule in Contract Cases*, 46 San Diego L.Rev. 705, 708–12, 719–21 (2009); John G. Fleming, *The Collateral Source Rule and Contract Damages*, 71 Calif. L.Rev. 56, 63–73, 77–86 (1983). This is because there is no chance of double recovery when the collateral source is entitled to subrogation as to the amounts paid to the injured party.

In the instant case, the alleged collateral source, Republic Mortgage Insurance Company (“RMIC”), and BB&T have a subrogation agreement. (R. pp. 21-22). To the extent RMIC paid any amounts to BB&T pursuant to a mortgage insurance agreement, RMIC is subrogated to the

rights of BB&T in the collection of the deficiency judgment entered against the Appellants. (*Id.*) As such, any collection of the amounts owed would not result in a double recovery for BB&T. This directly contradicts the reasoning in the line of cases which provide that the collateral source rule does not apply in breach of contract actions as it would provide for a windfall or other recovery beyond what BB&T is entitled to. In that regard, the reasoning for non-application of the collateral source rule in breach of contract cases evaporates.

As a result of the foregoing analysis, BB&T respectfully puts forth the argument that this Court should adopt the rationale that the collateral source rule may apply in a breach of contract action where the collateral source is subrogated to the rights of the injured party or non-breaching party. In so doing, BB&T requests that this court affirm the order of the Master in Equity.

C. The Master in Equity properly determined that the mortgage insurance carrier is wholly independent from the Appellants.

As previously established, the collateral source rule precludes the reduction of damages when an injured party receives compensation from a source wholly independent of the wrongdoer. *See Davis*, 257 S.C. 443, 446, 186 S.E.2d 247, 249 (1972); *see also Johnston v. Aiken Auto Parts*, 311 S.C. 285, 428 S.E.2d 737 (1993). In fact, “[t]he only requirement for qualification as a collateral source is that the source be ‘wholly independent of the wrongdoer.’” *In re W.B. Easton Const. Co., Inc.*, 320 S.C. 90, 92, 463 S.E.2d 317, 318 (1995) (emphasis added). “Other jurisdictions have specified a source is wholly independent, and therefore a collateral source, when the wrongdoer has not contributed to it...and when payments to the injured party were not made on behalf of the wrongdoer....” *Id.* (citing *Kistler v. Halsey*, 173 Colo. 540, 481 P.2d 722 (1971); *Maduff Mortg. Corp. v. Deloitte, Haskins & Sells*, 98 Or. App. 497, 779 P.2d 1083 (1989)) (emphasis added).

Appellants contend that the mortgage insurance carrier is not wholly independent from them because the “insurance premium was paid by [Appellants].” (App. Initial Brief p. 2). However, Appellants did not pay the premium to the insurer, but instead, made payments to BB&T, which were then paid by BB&T to the mortgage insurance carrier. Specifically, the Mortgage provides:

Borrower shall pay *to Lender* on the day Periodic Payments are due under the Note, until the Note is paid in full, a sum (the “Funds”) to provide for payment of amounts due for...Mortgage Insurance premiums, if any, or any sums payable by Borrower to Lender in lieu of the payment of Mortgage Insurance premiums in accordance with the provisions of Section 10.

(Supp. R. p. 7, ¶ 3) (emphasis added). This provision of the Mortgage provides confirmation that the Appellants were to include in their monthly payments to BB&T an amount which was designated as mortgage insurance premiums, but the Appellants were not to make the payments directly to the insurance carrier. As such, Appellants did not pay the policy premiums to the insurer as they allege.

Even more important, the mortgage insurance policy is for the benefit of BB&T and any payments made to BB&T would not be made on the behalf of the Appellants. Mortgage insurance protects only the mortgagee in the event of default. The Appellants did not interact with the insurer and are not a party to the insurance contract. In that same vein, “[t]he contractual beneficiaries of PMI are mortgagees and investors. Mortgagors have no right to the proceeds of a PMI policy. In fact, mortgagors cannot purchase PMI for themselves, since PMI insurance does not insure a mortgagor against the risk of his own default.” *Key Pac. Mortg., Inc. v. Indus. Indem. Co. of Alaska*, 845 P.2d 1087, 1089 (Alaska 1993). As such, Appellants have failed to show they are not wholly independent from the collateral source in this case, because they have failed to meet both elements of this standard: (1) contribution to the source and (2)

payments made on behalf of the wrongdoer. Therefore, the Master in Equity correctly ordered that the mortgage insurance carrier is a source wholly independent from the borrowers.

BB&T would, therefore, respectfully request that this court affirm the order of the Master in Equity as to the application of the collateral source rule.

CONCLUSION

This Court should decline to address the arguments of Appellants as the issues were either not properly preserved for appellate review, abandoned by virtue of failing to provide authority or support, or because they are moot.

To the extent the Court does take up the issue of the application of the collateral source rule to breach of contract actions where there is a subrogation agreement, this Court should affirm the Master in Equity's ruling that the collateral source rule applies in a breach of contract case where, as in this case, the collateral source is subrogated to the rights of the non-breaching party.